Court of Appeals of the State of Mississippi

JOE ELLIS RILEY

VERSUS

F. A. RICHARD & ASSOCIATES, INC. INGALLS SHIPBUILDING, INC. And ALEXIS HYLAND, an Individual

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or refusal:

Joe Ellis Riley - Appellant;

Honorable Robert E. O'Dell, a solo practioner - Attorney for Joe Ellis Riley, Appellant;

F.A. Richard & Associates, Inc. - Appellee;

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1) Whether the trial court erred in granting summary judgment as to counts of the plaintiff's complaint for intentional interference with contract, intentional interference with prospective advantage, intentional infliction of emotional distress, intentional interference with medical care and/or confidentiality of doctor/patient privilege, intentional interference with medical care by ex parte communication and punitive damages.

2) Whether the trial court erred in holding that the plaintiff executed a valid and sufficient waiver of his medical privilege allowing for ex parte communications with his doctor as opposed to submitting the question to the jury.

3) Whether the grant of summary judgment against the plaintiff invaded the province of the jury as to questions of malice.

4) Whether the trial court erred in allowing the defendants to bring forth a second motion for summary judgment after they abandoned their first one.

II.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The nature of the case is that the plaintiff, being aggrieved of the conduct of the defendants in their ex parte contact with his doctor, filed a complaint seeking redress in the Circuit Court of Jackson County, Mississippi on July 5, 2000. R. 7. Thereafter the defendants removed the case to federal court with the plaintiff objecting to the improper removal and moving for remand back to state court. R. 6, 41.

÷

į

i.

Rather than remanding back to the state court, the District Court improperly granted a defense motion for dismissal and the plaintiff appealed to the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals.

I.

R. 44. On August 1, 2002, the Fifth Circuit vacated the order of the District Court and remanded the case back to District Court with instructions to remand it back to state court. R. 65.

On September 18, 2003, the defendants filed a motion to dismiss or stay proceedings or to grant summary judgment. On or about September 24, 2003, the plaintiff filed his first amended complaint that deleted a prior claim for special damages associated with his Longshore and Harbor Workers' Compensation Act claim. R. 69.

On November 13, 2003, the trial court entered an order granting in part (partial stay) and denying in part the defendants' pending motion. R. 137. Though the claimant had opposed the defendants' motion for summary judgment with affidavits (R. 139, 140, 142, 143) and otherwise, the defendants did not argue it before the court at the October 3, 2003 hearing on the motion and the court's order did not reference their motion for summary judgment. R. 137, 170.

On January 31, 2005, the plaintiff filed his motion to compel discovery, particularly of his first combined discovery to the defendant, Alexis Hyland, and detailing his numerous and concerted, but unsuccessful, efforts to obtain cooperation from the defendants in taking the deposition of Alexis Hyland. R. 164.

On July 5, 2005, the trial court issued an order lifting stay. The defendants then filed a second motion for summary judgment which was opposed by the plaintiff by answer, affidavits, and evidence filed on April 6, 2006. R. 170-196. The plaintiff objected to being called upon to defend a second motion for summary judgment after the first one was abandoned by the defendants at the hearing of October 3, 2003 by their presenting absolutely no argument thereon at that time. R. 170.

E

1

1

After oral argument before the Court, the defendants' second motion for summary judgment was granted by the trial court on April 3, 2007 and therefrom the plaintiff perfected this appeal. R. 209.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

ļ

ż

III.

The plaintiff, Joe Ellis Riley, sustained an industrial, accident in a fall, while working in the course and scope of employment for Ingalls Shipbuilding [Now Northrop Grumman Ship Systems, Inc.], on October 16, 2007. R. 25, 148. The accident caused multiple breaks in his left ankle that were initially surgically stabilized with pins and screws in emergency surgery by Dr. Charlton H. Barnes at Singing River Hospital in Pascagoula, Mississippi, during the course of his initial hospitalization following the accident. R. 148, 149. The injuries to the ankle were so severe as to require a subsequent fusion surgery by Dr. Chris E. Wiggins (a partner of Dr. Barnes) on February 12, 1998. R. 148. The left ankle injury and fusion resulted in a shortening of the left leg of one and one-half inches and an impairment rating of 50% to the foot by Dr. Wiggins. R. 149. Joe Riley was restricted to a maximum walking distance of 1/10th of a mile and no lifting over 10 pounds as a result of his injuries. R. 150.

Although, (due to Joe Riley's limited ability to walk around following the accident and surgeries) it was not at first realized, either the fall at Ingalls, "and/or altered gait aggravated or exacerbated" Riley's pre-existing asymptomatic back condition, thus also resulting in an award of non-scheduled benefits for the disability due to the back by the Longshore Administrative Law Judge. R. 153.

The back condition issue first came to light in a chart report issue by Dr. Chris Wiggins dated April 19, 1999, in which Dr. Wiggins gave a history of only the industrial injury, and opined that based upon Riley's fused left ankle an spondylolisthesis at L-4 he was totally disabled. R. 25, 142, 192. Receipt of the report by Pam Hale at defendant, F. A. Richard & Associates, Inc. (FARA) must have caused quite a stir, as prompt action was taken to lobby Dr.

Wiggins for a change of opinion. R. 25, 142, 188, [FARA is the claims administrator for Ingalls Shipbuilding, Inc., a self-insured]. R. 24.

On May 21, 1999, Alexis Hyland an RN and "medical case manager" for the defendants received her marching orders from Pam Hale at FARA. R. 188. They included the following "goal[s]": Obtain approval for jobs, that work restrictions have not changed, and back problems are not related to work injury to ankle." R. 188. [emphasis added]. Alexis Hyland set up an ex parte conference, on behalf of the defendants, with Dr. Wiggins for June 7, 1999 on May 24, 1999. R. 188.

i.

i.

į

i

1

On June 7, 1999, without any notice to the claimant or his counsel, Alexis Hyland met ex parte with Dr. Wiggins. Her file notes reflect:

Consult Dr. Wiggins... stated back problems are not work related ...stated will review job descriptions and dictate to reflect that these are still approved from a workman's compensation standpoint. Voiced concern that by approving these jobs that patient may be disqualified from social security. Stated he did not want claimant to be a "burden" to Ingalls and is trying to take him "off their hands" by helping him get social security. Agreed to consult with me again after I received his dictation to answer any further questions I may have. R. 189.

Alexis Hyland also noted an update to Pam Hale. R. 189. Her job being done, (by her

file note of June 24, 1999) Alexis Hyland noted, "Per Pam Hale: Close...File Closed." R. 190.

After and as a result of the ex parte conference with Alexis Hyland, Dr. Wiggins revised his April 19, 1999 notes to Joe Riley's chart. Following his original type written "this man is disabled for all substantial gainful employment" he added, by the handwritten notation, "from a social security standpoint." R. 143, 192. Dr. Wiggins also produced a typewritten narrative dated June 7, 1999 which states:

Today's visit is actually a medical conference with Ms. Hyland, the medical case manager. Apparently my office note of 4/19/99 has led to some confusion, particularly the diagnosis spondylolisthesis as to whether that is workers' compensation related...Chart review done. I apologize for any confusion. Mr. Riley's spondylolisthesis is a preexisting problem and as such is not an industrial injury...Nevertheless, taking into consideration his age, his educational

background, and his vocational training, he is felt to be disabled from substantial gainful employment from a <u>social security standpoint</u>." R. 191. [emphasis in original].

As was his usual practice the report was copied to FARA. R. 191, 192, 193.

In a December 8, 1999 correspondence to Pam Hale at FARA, Dr. Wiggins wrote:

"You are correct, Mr. Riley's spondylolisthesis was pre-existing his industrial injury to his ankle and was in no way related or aggravated by his industrial injury. The problems with his back are a natural progression of the congenital/developmental spondylolisthesis defect." R. 26. The December 8, 1999 letter was, according to Dr. Wiggins, sent to Pam Hale at FARA as a direct result of the ex parte consultation with Alexis Hyland. R. 178.

Upon learning of the ex parte interference with his medical treatment and being shocked and dismayed thereby, Joe Riley filed this civil action versus the malicious actors on June 7, 2000. R. 23. The ruse as to Joe Riley's back condition not being related to his industrial injury, however, could not be sustained. At his deposition taken on June 12, 2000, five days after the complaint was filed, Dr. Wiggins recanted and re-reversed himself and acknowledged and "once more adopted his original view that a causal relationship existed between Claimant's fall and/or gait and his back symptoms." R. 151. [findings of fact by Administrative Law Judge]. Indeed, all physicians who spoke to the causation of Joe Riley's back condition in the records submitted into evidence at his LHWCA hearing, Dr. Wiggins, Dr. John McCloskey, and Dr. William Crotwell, (a medical examiner for the employer) agreed that "the accident and/or altered gait aggravated or exacerbated his low back condition causing it to be symptomatic." R. 153.

.

Ĺ

The plaintiff also alleged in his Complaint that the defendants tortuously sought to use and did use that relationship to their advantage and to the plaintiff's disadvantage by direct ex parte communications with Dr. Wiggins by persons who misrepresented their interests. Id.

The plaintiff in his Complaint also recited facts so as to negate any waiver of medical privilege or authority given either impliedly or expressly for the defendants to have ex parte communication with his physician. Such facts as alleged by the plaintiff in his petition were that a purported;

medical authorization signed by the plaintiff on or about October 21, 1997 was procured by direct contact by a representative of the defendant, F. A. Richard & Associates, Inc., at a time when the plaintiff was disabled and incompetent to waive any medical privilege due to his being under the influence of pain medication while in the hospital and being in great pain from his injury. Rec.Vol.1, p.21.

The plaintiff alleged that in any purported medical authorization was procured by duress and by adhesion and that its full contents and consequences were not disclosed. Joe Riley's complaint alleged that even had the contents and consequences of a waiver been explained to him, he was not competent at the time to waive his medical privilege or to give full and knowledgeable consent to allow ex parte contacts with any treating physician. R. 27. Furthermore, the plaintiff alleged that the defendants were notified by correspondence dated September 9, 1998 sent by his then attorney to cease any contact with the plaintiff and that any ex parte communication with his physician that may have been previously authorized was therefore fully and finally withdrawn as of that date. R. 27. (Letter at R. 141).

The plaintiff further alleged in his Complaint that that an apparent additional unauthorized and tortuous ex parte communication by F. A. Richard & Associates, Inc. or its employees or agents, the precise nature of which was unknown and undisclosed to the plaintiff, was made on the behalf of the defendants. The Complaint filed by the plaintiff in Circuit Court further alleged that F. A. Richard & Associates, Inc. and Ingalls Shipbuilding, Inc. had established,

i.

i .

"either expressly or impliedly, a close working relationship with Mississippi Gulf Coast Orthopaedic Group, P.A. (MCOG) where numerous workers' compensation claimants who have sustained industrial injuries at Ingalls Shipbuilding, Inc. are sent or referred to the physicians at MCOG for treatment of their industrial injuries and thus the said Defendants are especially situated so as to exert inappropriate unfair and/or undue influence upon the physicians and/or opinions of the physicians at MCOG by ex parte contacts."

Finally, the plaintiff's Complaint alleged that the defendants knew or should have known that at the time of the Complaint of ex parte communication with Dr. Wiggins, that (under Mississippi law) an unconditional and specific authorization was required prior to ex parte contacts and that all contacts were knowingly and maliciously made for the purpose of damaging the plaintiff and in reckless disregard of his rights. R. 28. The Complaint of Joe Riley filed in the Circuit Court of Jackson County, Mississippi, then set forth ten (10) counts or causes of action for liability as follows:

Count 1 - Intentional interference with contract.

Count 2 - Beach of fiduciary duty.

Count 3 - Intentional interference with prospective advantage.

Count 4 - Medical malpractice.

- Count 5 Fraud and misrepresentation.
- Count 6 Negligence.

÷

i.

i

i.

ī

Ì

- Count 7 Intentional infliction of emotional distress.
- Count 8 Intentional interference with medical care and/or breach of confidentiality of doctor/patient privilege.
- Count 9 Intentional interference with medical care by ex parte communication.

Count 10 - Punitive damages. R. 28-31.

Of the above referenced counts, the claimant withdrew claims number 2, breach of fiduciary duty, and number 4, medical malpractice, at the hearing before the trial court on September 22, 2006. T. 28.

In his demand for damages, the plaintiff sought \$500,000.00 in actual damages and \$25,000,000.00 in punitive damages plus all costs of Court. Such damages both general and special were sought against the defendants, jointly and severally and/or individually. In order that he comply with the requirement that special damages be identified with particularly in his Complaint, the plaintiff, in paragraph 27, identified special damages in the amount of \$82,674.18, in lost disability compensation benefits under the Longshore and Harbor Workers' Compensation Act. R. 31. That complaint for "special damages" was subsequently deleted in a First Amended Complaint filed by the plaintiff. R. 69.

IV.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The vast majority of states have held that ex parte communications with medical care providers are prohibited under state law. Those few states that have considered the question have held that the patient holder of the privilege has an action for violation of the privilege against third parties who engage in ex parte interviews.

The tort theories of intentional interference with contract and intentional interference with prospective advantage have been recognized as supporting an action for violation of medical privilege by ex parte communications. Case law exhibits a strong nationwide toward expanding protection of physician-patient privilege by prohibiting ex parte communications with medical care providers and by allowing a cause of action against third party interlopers.

÷

ŧ

i.

Those who violate the prohibition against ex parte contacts with medical care providers commonly, as in this case, commit the common law torts of intentional interference with contract

and/or intentional interference with prospective advantage. Even in states (among those adopting the majority view that ex pate interviews are prohibited) such as Mississippi, that have not yet considered and announced a specific cause of action for violation of the doctor-patient privilege by the conduct of ex parte physician interviews, an action founded upon intentional interference with the physician/patient contract and the patient's expectation of confidentiality and prospective advantage from that confidentiality creates a jury question for damages.

Since the interference is intentional, upon finding by the jury that it is sufficiently outrageous in character, extreme, and beyond the bounds of decency and norms of society, a cause of action intentional infliction of emotional distress, requiring consideration by a jury is presented.

The Court should not allow trial judges to be the ultimate finders of fact as to such issues as whether defendants act with malice, whether persons in extreme pain and on narcotic medication are competent to execute complex waivers, and whether a party's acts that violate the express public policy of the state may be considered outrageous; all of those issues are part of this record. This Honorable Court should decide this case in the only manner that will preserve and promote the physician-patient privilege by reversing summary judgment and allowing trial of the relevant issues of the case.

The Court should not allow defendants who have brought forth a first motion for summary judgment, and abandoned same at a hearing thereon, to file successive motions for summary judgment.

ARGUMENT

1. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS TO COUNTS OF THE PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT FOR INTENTIONAL INTERFERENCE WITH CONTRACT, INTENTIONAL INTERFERENCE WITH PROSPECTIVE ADVANTAGE, INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS, INTENTIONAL INTERFERENCE WITH MEDICAL CARE AND/OR CONFIDENTIALITY OF DOCTOR/ PATIENT PRIVILEGE, INTENTIONAL INTERFERENCE WITH MEDICAL CARE BY EX PARTE COMMUNICATION AND PUNITIVE DAMAGES.

The principal issue on appeal is whether the trial court erred in granting summary judgment against the plaintiff on the issues identified above. Since, as recognized by the trial judge, "this action may be one of first impression," the claimant listed several alternate theories of liability in his complaint. R. 208. Since the case is of first impression as to whether Mississippi recognizes a cause of action for violation of physician/patient privilege by third parties, (and if so on what theories) the trial court erred if Mississippi follows the prevailing rule in that regard.

As with all jury trial cases where summary judgment is granted the principal question is whether or not the case would more properly be submitted to the jury. The plaintiff submits that the trial court made numerous conclusions in support of the grant of summary judgment that were not only questionable, but were against the weight of the evidence presented by the Rule 56 record.

The standard for examining a defendant's motion for summary judgment is well settled. The Court must consider the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, and only upon a finding that no genuine issues of material fact remain to be decided by a jury and that the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law should summary judgment be granted. Miss. R. Civ. Pro. Rule 56(c), <u>Hataway v. Estate of Nicholls</u>, 893 So.2d 1054, 1057 (Miss. 2005).

ì

V.

The Court must review de novo a trial court's grant of a motion for summary judgment. <u>Webb v Braswell</u>, 930 So.2d 387, 395 (Miss. 2006). The movant has the burden of proving that no genuine issue of material fact exists. <u>Franklin Collection Service</u>, Inc. v Kyle, 955 So.2d 284, 288 (Miss. 2007).

Where there is doubt as to whether or not a fact issue exists, the Court must resolve the matter in favor of the non-moving party and the motion must be denied. <u>Sutherland v. Estate of Ritter</u>, 2007 So.2d (2006-CA-00082-SCT) (Miss. 2007). It is the decided policy of this Court that "summary judgment, in whole or in part, should be granted with great caution" <u>Brown v.</u> <u>Credit Center, Inc.</u>, 444 So.2d 358, 363 (Miss. 1983).

The essence of this case is that it is an action against third parties for interference with the physician-patient privilege by ex parte contact with a doctor. The Mississippi Supreme Court has not rendered a decision directly on point, although as detailed later herein, has asserted positions in favor of strong protection of the physician-patient privilege.

The common law did not recognize a physician-patient privilege. <u>Whalen v. Roe</u>, 429 U.S. 589, 602 n. 28, 97 S.Ct. 869, 51 L. Ed 2d 64 (1977). The medical profession, however, has traditionally guarded against disclosure of confidences in the relationship. For example the Hypocratic Oath states "Whatever, in connection with my professional practice, or not in connection with it, I see or hear, in the life of men, which ought not to be spoken of abroad, I will not divulge, as reckoning that all such would be kept secret." 50 ALR 4th 714, 717.

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