IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2007-CA-00755

JOE ELLIS RILEY

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

VS.

F.A. RICHARD & ASSOCIATES, INC., INGALLS SHIPBUILDING, INC., and ALEXIS HYLAND, an Individual

DEFENDANTS/APPELLEES

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF JACKSON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEES F.A. RICHARD & ASSOCIATES, INC., INGALLS SHIPBUILDING, INC., and ALEXIS HYLAND, an Individual

Oral Argument Not Requested

SILAS W. McCHAREN - BAR BRANDI N. SMITH - BAR # DANIEL COKER HORTON & BELL, P.A. 4400 OLD CANTON ROAD, SUITE 400 POST OFFICE BOX 1084 JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 39215-1084 TELEPHONE: (601) 969-7607 FACSIMILE: (601) 969-1116

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

Id. at 1041-42 (citations omitted).

In Farr v. Riscorp, 714 So. 2d 20, 21 (La. Ct. App. 1998), a Louisiana court analyzed a fact pattern nearly identical to those in the instant appeal. The plaintiff, a workers' compensation claimant, sued her employer's workers' compensation claims administrator and the case manager assigned to the claim in tort for a violation of her constitutionally protected right to privacy. *Id.* Specifically she asserted claims for interference with her physician-patient relationship as a result

of defendants' meeting with her treating physician to discuss her medical condition, prognosis and treatment. *Id.* The defendants moved for and were granted summary judgment.

The Louisiana Court of Appeals held that plaintiff's physician-patient privilege was waived when she filed for worker's compensation benefits. *Id.* at 22. The concurring opinion of Justice Byrnes is instructive to the case at hand.

There is no prohibition against asking for the information. Normally it is up to the party possessing the information to assert the privilege. Privileges are not normally prohibitions against asking, they are licenses not to answer.

. . .

By way of analogy, customer account information at a banking institution is confidential. This does not mean that a request for such information is actionable.

. .

If my doctor releases my medical records without my authorization or a court order I may have grounds to sue²³ him, but not the recipient of that information unless the law unambiguously provides me with a right to do so.

Id. at 24 (Byrnes, J., concurring) (emphasis added).

A U.S. District Court for the Western District of Missouri has also ruled contrary to Riley's arguments. The district court in *Mikel v. Abrams*, 541 F. Supp. 591 (W.D. Mo. 1982) held

²³ Because Dr. Wiggins is not a party to this lawsuit, and because Riley's complaint made no allegations against Dr. Wiggins, it is impossible to determine if any substantive tort could have resulted from the communication which occurred between Dr. Wiggins and Hyland. See Scott, 704 So. 2d at 1006 (evidence obtained by an opposing party from such ex parte contacts with a patient's medical provider without prior consent is inadmissible); Johnson v. Memorial Hospital at Gulfport, 732 So. 2d 864, 865 (Miss. 1998) (manner by which relevant information subject to the medical privilege is acquired is limited to voluntary consensual disclosure by the patient or the formal discovery process).

that no Missouri court had ever recognized a cause of action based solely on breach of a doctor and patient relationship.

Unlike Riley's "persuasive authority," the above-mentioned authorities directly relate to the type of relief for which Riley seeks. These cases offer specific guidance concerning the legal issues on appeal.

All of Riley's claims based on a violation of the physician-patient privilege are without merit. Under the applicable federal law, there is no physician-patient privilege. Even under Mississippi law, which is not controlling in this instance, *ex parte* communications are allowed in the workers' compensation context. Finally, if the Appellees did violate Riley's physician-patient privilege under Mississippi law, his only remedy is exclusion of the evidence, not a right to sue in tort.

5. Riley's Claim for Intentional/Tortious Interference with Contract Fails as a Matter of Law

Riley asserts that the trial court erred in granting summary judgment and dismissing his claim of intentional/tortious interference with his contract for medical services with Dr. Wiggins. Riley argues that he need only prove the following elements to survive summary judgment on his tortious interference claim:

- (1) that the acts were intentional and willful; (2) that they were calculated to cause damage to the plaintiffs in their lawful business;
- (3) that they were done with the unlawful purpose of causing damage and loss, without right or justifiable cause on the part of the defendant (which constitutes malice); and (4) that actual damage and loss resulted.

Par Indus., Inc. v. Target Container Co., 708 So. 2d 44 (Miss. 1998). The Appellees agree that the four elements above are required to prove tortious interference with contract. The Appellees

however do not agree with Riley's assertion that he is not required to additionally prove that the contract would have been performed but for the alleged interference. This Court in *Par Indus.*, on which Riley himself relies, stated that "[i]n addition, the plaintiff must prove that the contract would have been performed but for the alleged interference." *Id.* (Emphasis added). There have been numerous other Mississippi appellate decisions specifically requiring additional proof that the contract would have been performed but for the interference. *See Scruggs, Millette, Bozeman & Dent, P.A. v. Merkel & Cocke, P.A.*, 910 So. 2d 1093, 1098-1099 (Miss. 2005) ("A plaintiff claiming intentional interference with a contract must prove that "the contract would have been performed but for the alleged interference."); *Sentinel Indus. Contr. Corp. v. Kimmins Indus. Serv. Corp.*, 743 So. 2d 954, 969 (Miss. 1999) ("In addition, the plaintiff must prove that the contract would have been performed but for the alleged interference."); *Grice v. Fedex Ground Package Sys.*, 2006 Miss. App. LEXIS 244 at *5 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). Riley's evidence before the trial court failed to establish this additional element. The "contract" for medical services by Dr. Wiggins was in fact performed.

Riley also failed to prove the requisite element of malicious intent. Since Riley's Brief separately addressed "malicious intent," this element will be discussed separately in Subsection D below.

Riley's claim must also fail because a cognizable claim for tortious interference with contract includes the element of "actual loss." As has been shown, Riley was in no way "damaged" by Hyland's communications with Dr. Wiggins. Dr. Wiggins did not change or alter his medical treatment of Riley, he only changed his opinion of whether Riley's spondylolisthesis was aggravated by his industrial injury. Dr. Wiggins however ultimately "re-reversed" his opinion

and concluded that Riley's spondylolisthesis was caused/aggravated by his industrial injury. Contrary to Riley's allegation that he was damaged by Hyland and Dr. Wiggins' conference, Riley was compensated under the LHWCA for all of his injuries related to the industrial fall, including his now symptomatic spondylolisthesis. Riley admitted there was never a period of time during the course of his LHWCA claim that he did not receive any benefit to which he was entitled.

Additionally, any alleged "actual loss" flowing from the contractual interference claim is compensable and preempted by the LHWCA., 33 USC § 905(a) (Exclusiveness of liability). Therefore, Riley's claim is not an allegation of an additional independent injury but simply a related compensable injury covered under the exclusivity provision of the LHWCA. Therefore, as a matter of law, plaintiff's claim for tortious interference with contract, medical care, prospective advantage, etc. cannot survive summary judgment.

6. Riley's Claim of Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress Fails as a Matter of Law

In regard to his claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress ("IIED"), Riley makes the following two sentence argument:

Recovery for intentional infliction of emotional distress depends upon the conduct being outrageous, evoking revulsion, and being intentional done with foreseeable results. Wilson v. GMAC, 883 So.2d 56 (Miss. 2004). There is certainly a jury question as to whether the conduct of the defendants alleged in the pleadings and in the record did just that.

(Riley's Brief at p. 22). Riley appears to confuse surviving motion for summary judgment with that of a 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss.

It is well established in Mississippi that "[t]he standard for intentional infliction of emotional distress ... is very high: the defendant's conduct must be "wanton and willful [such that]

it would evoke outrage or revulsion." *Hatley v. Hilton Hotels Corp.*, 308 F.3d 473, 476 (5th Cir. 2002) (*quoting Leaf River Forest Prods.*, *Inc. v. Ferguson*, 662 So. 2d 648, 659 (Miss. 1995)). The acts must be "'so outrageous in character, and so extreme in degree, as to go beyond all possible bounds of decency, and to be regarded as atrocious, and utterly intolerable in a civilized community.'" *Hatley*, 308 F.3d at 476 (*quoting Speed v. Scott*, 787 So. 2d 626, 630 (Miss. 2001)). The Appellees' acts of investigating Riley's compensation claim were hardly willful or done with an "actual intent to injure" Riley. *Blailock v. O'Bannon*, 795 So. 2d 533, 535 (Miss. 2001).

This Court has repeatedly held that to survive summary judgment the opposing party must present significant probative evidence (i.e., specific facts) showing that there are genuine issues for trial. Riley's bare assertion that a jury question exists as to whether Appellees' conduct was outrageous, evoking revulsion, and intentionally done with foreseeable results, clearly does not constitute specific facts to survive summary judgment, much less is it enough to carry the high burden of establishing a claim for IIED.

7. Riley Did Not Offer Clear and Convincing Evidence to Support His Request for Punitive Damages

Other than including the words "punitive damages" in the title of his first argument on appeal (Riley Brief at p. 10), Riley offers no argument that the trial court erred in concluding that the record evidence did not support a request for punitive damages²⁴. Appellees however will

²⁴ "Punitive damages" are a remedy not a separate cause of action in any event . *Cole v. Chevron USA*, *Inc.*, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 70594, *52 (S.D. Miss. Sept. 24, 2007).

briefly address this issue. Mississippi follows the rule that punitive damages are not recoverable in contract actions. MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-1-65.

However Mississippi does recognize common law punitive damages, outside the statute, where an insurance company has refused a claim in "bad faith." In order to prevail in a bad faith claim against an insurer, the plaintiff must show that the insurer lacked an arguable or legitimate basis for denying the claim, or that the insurer committed a willful or malicious wrong, or acted with gross and reckless disregard for the insured's rights. *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Grimes*, 722 So. 2d 637, 641 (Miss. 1998)). Simple negligence on the insurer's part will not suffice. *Gallagher Bassett Servs. v. Jeffcoat*, 887 So. 2d 777, 783 (Miss. 2004). The fact that an insurer's decision to deny benefits may ultimately turn out to be incorrect does not in and of itself warrant an award of punitive damages if the decision was reached in good faith. *Grimes*, 722 So. 2d at 641. Where an insurance carrier denies or delays payment of a valid claim, punitive damages will not lie if the carrier has a reasonable cause for such denial or delay. *Mut. Life Ins. Co. v. Estate of Wesson*, 517 So. 2d 521, 528 (Miss. 1987).

The Appellees' prompt investigation of the Riley's new back injury belies any willful or malicious wrong, or actions that were with gross and reckless disregard for the Riley's rights. It was reasonable and in fact prudent to contact Dr. Wiggins regarding this new injury and its relation, if any, to the industrial injury. Clearly Riley was not and is not entitled to punitive damages. Riley has failed to show that the conduct of any Appellee, rose to the level of malice or gross neglect/reckless disregard.

Furthermore 33 U.S.C. § 905, the exclusivity provision of the LWHCA, does not allow for punitive damages. See Houston v Bechtel Associates Professional Corp., D.C., 522 F. Supp. 1094

(D.D.C. 1981) (Plaintiff may not circumvent 33 U.S.C. § 905(a)'s exclusivity command under guise of a claim for punitive damages.)

Finally, Appellees NEVER denied any of Riley's claims.

C. The Trial Court Did Not Err in Holding the Medical Authorization Signed by Riley to be a Valid Agreement

In holding that there were no facts to overcome summary judgment which would indicate Riley was incompetent when he executed the medical authorization, the trial court relied on (1) the tape recording transcript²⁵ of Riley's interview with Caty Suthoff [R. 379-84] and (2) the expert opinion of William George, Ph.D.²⁶, opining that no medication Riley was taking would have been impaired his ability to make critical decisions, such as waiving medical privilege. [R. 519-20].

Riley contends that his self-serving affidavit (stating he was heavily medicated with narcotics and in a great deal of pain at the time of execution of the medical authorization) alone

²⁵ At p. 23 of his Brief, Riley claims that he was never provided with a copy of the October 1997 audio recording and further claims that the transcript was not included in this appellate record. In regard to the audio cassette itself, a copy was not only made available to Robert O'Dell (Riley's LHWCA counsel and counsel herein) during the pendency of the LHWCA claim, but was in fact made an exhibit at the May 26, 2004 LHWCA hearing. [R. 442]. In regard to the typed transcript of the interview, the same was also made available in his LHWCA claim and exhibited at the hearing [R.442]. What is even more compelling is that Mr. O'Dell raised no objections to these exhibits or any of the 56 other exhibits offered into evidence by Ingalls at the May 2004 hearing. [R. 391]. Lastly, the transcript is included in this appellate record at R. 379-84.

Accordingly, Riley's claims that he was never provided with a copy of the recording and that transcript was not included in this appellate record are not only incorrect but are disingenuous.

²⁶ Professor of Pharmacology and the Director of Toxicology at Tulane University School of Medicine.

is enough to avoid summary judgment and have the issue of competency²⁷ determined by a jury. Riley offers no legal authority whatsoever in support of his claims of incompetency or the burdens established for carrying such claims under MISS. R. CIV. P. 56.

Appellees again deny that a medical authorization was even required to investigate the specific medical conditions at issue in Riley's <u>federal LHWCA</u> claim. Notwithstanding the fact no medical authorization was required, Riley nonetheless executed a valid medical authorization.

"Mississippi law presumes that a person is sane and mentally capable to enter into a contract." Frierson v. Delta Outdoor, Inc., 794 So.2d 220, 224 (Miss. 2001) (citing Foster v. Wright, So.2d 873, 876 (Miss. 1961)). The burden is upon the party seeking to avoid an instrument on the ground of insanity or mental incapacity, to establish the same by "clear and convincing evidence." Richardson v. Langley, 426 So. 2d 780, 783 (Miss. 1983). This Court examined the heavy burden placed on the party who seeks to avoid an instrument based incompetency in Richardson, supra,:

The mere fact that a grantor has been taking drugs or alcohol is not sufficient to raise the presumption of incapacity so as to require "strong and demonstrative proof" of a lucid period on the part of the grantee. In *Herrington v. Herrington, supra*, as previously discussed, we held that the mere fact that the grantor had been taking Demoral, a powerful narcotic, for the pain induced by his terminal cancer, did not *ipso facto* render him mentally incapable of executing a deed. The *Herrington* opinion indicated that the grantor's actions and conversation at the time in

²⁷ At the trial court level Riley also claimed the medical authorization was procured under duress. Riley has waived this contract defense by not including it in his appeal. The Appellees however note that Mississippi law presumes that a contract is freely entered into by the parties without coercion or overreaching. *Parks v. Parks*, 914 So. 2d 337, 341 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) (*citing Singer v. Tatum*, 171 So. 2d 134, 148 (Miss. 1965)). Riley put forth no evidence that he was under "duress" when he signed the medical authorization.

question were the primary indicia of mental capacity or lack thereof.

... the mere ingestion of substances which have a potential to affect a person's mind is not sufficient to render *ipso facto* invalid a deed executed by that person on the ground of lack of mental capacity. Clearly in such circumstances, the grantor's capacity must be judged within the context of his actions at the time he executed the deed. Here Dr. Morris' testimony did not establish that grantor Parks lacked mental capacity when she executed the deed to the appellants Richardson.

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